RECEIVED

MAR 02 2026

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

Debra McCaslin, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-001644

The State of South Carolina,

Respondent,

v.

Jabin E. Trapp,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Dayne C. Phillips, Esq.
S.C. Bar No. 77712

PRICE BENOWITZ LLP
1614 Taylor Street, Ste. D.
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 807-0234

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

Debra McCaslin, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-001644

The State of South Carolina,

Respondent,

v.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR BY DENYING APPELLANT IMMUNITY FROM PROSECUTION PURSUANT TO THE PROTECTION OF PERSONS AND PROPERTY ACT BECAUSE THE COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN FINDING APPELLANT DID NOT ESTABLISH BY A PREPONDERANCE OF THE EVIDENCE THE ELEMENTS REQUIRED FOR IMMUNITY UNDER SUBSECTION 16-11-440(C) AND THE REQUISITE ELEMENTS OF SELF-DEFENSE?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 5, 2022, the Lexington County Grand Jury indicted Appellant, Jabin Trapp, for the Murder of Parrish Phillips (“Decedent”) (R. 947 – 948).

On April 25, 2024, Appellant filed a motion for a pre-trial hearing to determine whether he was entitled to immunity from prosecution pursuant to Section 16-11-450 of the South Carolina Code of Laws (Protection of Persons and Property Act (“PPPA”)). (R. 274 – 275).

On September 5–6, 2024, Appellant appeared before the Honorable Debra McCaslin for the immunity hearing. (R. 1 – 252). Robert T. Williams, Anna Yonge, and Jason Yonge represented Appellant, and Assistant Solicitors Bruce Norton, Lucas Pincelli, and Jordan Cox represented the State. After hearing the testimony and arguments presented by counsel, the Court denied the motion and found Appellant was not entitled to immunity under the PPPA.

On September 16–19, 2024, Appellant proceeded to trial before the Honorable Debra McCaslin and a jury. (R. 276 – 946). Robert T. Williams, Anna Yonge, and Jason Yonge represented Appellant, and Assistant Solicitors Bruce Norton, Lucas Pincelli, and Jordan Cox prosecuted the case on behalf of the State. The jury returned a guilty verdict, and the Trial Court sentenced Appellant to forty (40) years imprisonment. (R. 930 – 945).

On September 30, 2024, Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal.¹ (R. 951 – 952). This appeal follows.

¹ Defense Counsel Jason Yonge emailed the notice of appeal, proof of service, and sentencing sheet to ctappfilings@sccourts.org on Friday, September 27, 2024. It appears Counsel Yonge filed these documents the following Monday because of court closures due to Hurricane Helene.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Immunity Hearing

On September 5–6, 2024, Appellant appeared before the Court for an evidentiary hearing to determine whether Appellant was entitled to immunity under the PPPA. (R. 1 – 252). The following witnesses testified at the hearing: (1) Appellant, (2) Officer William Norris, (3) Investigator Earl Alewine, and (4) Officer Paul Walker.

Appellant's Testimony

At the hearing, Appellant Jabin Trapp testified and immediately addressed the issue as to why he shot and killed Decedent on June 27, 2021: “*Because he attacked me and threatened me [with] bodily harm and really [,] I was very fearful for my life.*” (R. 8, lines 8-13) (emphasis added). Appellant explained that Decedent was his friend and had been living with him for approximately three and a half weeks at the time of the shooting. (R. 8, lines 8-13; R. 16, lines 15-17). Appellant stated that he did not want to kill Decedent and proceeded to testify about his background, relationship with Decedent, and the events leading up to the shooting.

Appellant's Background

Appellant testified that he worked as a cybersecurity engineer for Wells Fargo and had been with that company for eight years. (R. 30, line 10). Appellant stated that he had previously worked for Intel Semiconductor and explained that his career was important to him because his “daughter just started back to finish her master’s [degree] to go to dental school”. (R. 30, lines 3-5). Appellant further noted, “I keep a very clean - - squeaky clean life because of my job.” (R. 30, lines 7-8).

Appellant's Relationship with Decedent

Appellant testified that he and Decedent had been friends for about ten years. (R. 16, lines

21-25). Appellant explained that they met through a mutual friend and enjoyed riding motorcycles and singing karaoke. (R. 17). Appellant testified that he initially allowed Decedent to stay as a “house guest to recuperate” from a previous intestinal surgery (due to a healing wound on his abdomen and had to wear a colostomy bag). (R. 25, lines 3-5; R. 31, lines 12-21). Appellant noted that Decedent brought his dog, Max, to live at the residence, and his girlfriend, Elizabeth “Lizzy” Warwick, stayed most nights. (R. 28, lines 20-23; R. 32, line 22 – 33, line 3). Appellant acknowledged that he had a threesome one time with Decedent and Lizzy. (R. 33 – 34).

Appellant’s Living Arrangement with Decedent

Appellant testified that he allowed the Decedent to live with him under the condition that Decedent would not keep “any large amounts of cash or ... large amounts of drugs in my house” because a felony charge could end his career. (R. 29, lines 12-19). Appellant explained that he implemented this rule because “any type of felony charge like that would ultimately just end my career and so I wanted to avoid being implicated in anything like that.” (R. 30, lines 19-21). Notably, Appellant clarified that he knew Decedent sold marijuana and THC cartridges, and that he occasionally purchased THC cartridges from Decedent to help with his “anxiety in the evenings”. (R. 23, line 24 – 24, line 16).

Appellant’s Knowledge of Decedent’s Violent Past

Appellant testified that he knew Decedent “*could have a hothead . . . a hot temper.*” (R. 19, lines 16-20) (emphasis added). However, Appellant acknowledged that Decedent had never been angry towards him but specified that he did know about Decedent’s “violent past”:

[Decedent] ha[d] the capability of being angry ... I knew ... he had been kicked out of a few bars because, you know, he’d showed out and stuff like that. *I was aware of his [] violent past in regards to his prior altercations that he had, so I was aware of those type of activities. [] I was aware he had the potential [] to lose his temper and be angry [].*

(R. 19, lines 20-21; R. 20, lines 2-9) (emphasis added). Appellant expounded on his specific knowledge of the Decedent's "violent past":

[Decedent] was *charged with attempted murder* and he wound up *pleading to assault and battery* or some sort of lesser charge like that, but *he went to prison* for a while. So, I mean, *I knew he had the capability to be violent* because he took on two people and one of them was armed with a knife and he disarmed that person, *slashed that person up pretty good, so, I mean, he -- he had the capability to be vicious.*

(R. 21, lines 5-12) (emphasis added). Notably, Appellant testified that he knew Decedent wore an eye patch because of an injury he received in prison after an inmate attacked him with a knife. (R. 21 – 23).

Events Leading to the Shooting

Appellant admitted that he had become frustrated with Decedent for being messy, loud, and having to cook for him. (R. 36 – 39). Appellant maintained that he became "a little bit nervous" when Decedent paid him \$1,200 in cash for two months' rent because he had specifically told Decedent not to keep large amounts of cash in the house. (R. 38). Appellant also became suspicious that Decedent borrowed his car for drug-related activities after tracking his movements using the "Cadillac app" during a trip to Charleston. (R. 39 – 41).

On the day of the shooting, Decedent went to a bar for "Sunday Funday" with a mutual friend, Aubry Rowe, and her minor daughter while Appellant cut the grass and did yard work. (R. 44 – 47). When Decedent returned from the bar, Appellant attempted to discuss the issues with their living arrangement but Decedent "wasn't the least bit apologetic" or willing to work with Appellant. (R. 50, line 21 – 53, line 17). Appellant stated that while they were on the back patio, Decedent said, "you're my bitch now" referring to the rent payment. (R. 51, lines 5-8).

Appellant then explained that he decided to get the envelope with \$1,200 cash and return it to Decedent so he could find another place to stay. (R. 52, lines 15-25). Appellant testified that

Decedent and Lizzy were outside sitting on the patio furniture when he put the envelope on the table and informed Decedent that he needed to find a new place. (R. 53, lines 1-16). Appellant explained that Decedent became “very irritable towards me” and said, “I own you for the next two months.” (R. 53, lines 18-20).

Decedent’s Threats to Appellant

Appellant testified that he told Decedent about tracking the car’s movements during Decedent’s trip to Charleston and showed him the places on the app. (R. 54). In response, Appellant testified that Decedent threatened him, saying, “*you’re dead and don’t even know it yet; [] you’re already dead*” and “*people [have] died for knowing shit like this*”. (R. 54, lines 11-13) (emphasis added). Appellant also testified that Decedent got in his face and said, “he owns me and that he might not be able to completely take me out right now, *but that once Max [the dog] gets done - - once Max gets done with me there won’t be nothing left but a carcass.*” (R. 54, lines 14-18) (emphasis added).

Appellant also described the Decedent’s level of anger,

[Decedent] -- on a scale of one to ten at that -- at that point, he's probably like a three or so, but *he went from just from that to a hundred like instantly*. It was like - - at that point like I'd saw something in him change and like *he had this rage and anger* and his cheeks were like clinched together and he was like just -- just I've never -- *I've never seen somebody so angry before* and I -- and I never -- I never thought [Decedent] would go like that towards me and he was so hard, like just so -- *it was scary. Scary.*

(R. 55, lines 4-13) (emphasis added). Appellant testified, “I actually stood up out of my chair” and “said you can’t talk to me like this in my house, you need to leave, and [Decedent] said I ain’t fucking leaving and [] he’s right in my face.” (R. 56, lines 5-9). Appellant testified, “that’s when I saw Lizzy, like she got scared and she left”, then Decedent “head-butted” him, and “stormed inside” the house. (R. 56, lines 9-13). Notably, Appellant further testified, “*I thought [Decedent]*

was going to get a knife, club or something” and *“come back and beat the crap out of me”*. (R. 56, lines 23-25) (emphasis added).

Appellant then explained why he went inside, “ I actually had to go inside because I’m going to get my phone because I’m calling 9-1-1”. (R. 56 – 57). Appellant also testified that, while looking for his phone, *“I’m in such fear and such like panicky I grabbed the gun”* on the dresser. (R. 58, lines 6-8) (emphasis added). Appellant further testified that he went back to the porch area because he could not find his phone. (R. 58, lines 20-25).

The Shooting

Appellant testified, “[A]s I’m walking out and I see my phone on the stool, I can hear [Decedent] saying a few things that I couldn’t make out like he was behind me, like he was inside coming behind me”. (R. 59, lines 5-8). Notably, Appellant detailed the moments immediately before the shooting:

[A]t the time *the gun was down by my side* and I went to say I just want you to leave and I -- I couldn’t even get that out of my mouth because *he like bum-rushed me, like he was gonna try to tackle me, and so as he’s coming towards me*, you know, I’m trying to raise the gun up to like get it away from him like this and I’m gonna start to evade to take it away from him and so instead of like block tackling me he kind of drives up and grabs -- *grabs my arm and drives me off the back porch* and as I’m going off the back porch -- or as he’s driving me off the back porch, my arm or back of my shoulder hits the -- this hanging fern basket and we kick over the chair, and I don’t know if I kicked over the chair or he kicked over the chair, but one of us did, but as I go off the porch and he’s driving me off the porch, *he’s like almost on top of me kind of thing, so when I land on the ground I stumble and like trying to get my balance and I’m about to fall and like I’m afraid that if he gets me on the ground he -- he can definitely hurt me* because I don’t -- I’m not -- I don’t know how to fight, I’ve never fought anybody before, and *so he’d be able to just do what he wanted to do with me*.

And so I’m trying to get away, I’m trying to get away, and I’m actually starting to get my footing back and when we go out on the yard we kind of -- he drives me out going, you know, back towards the -- the shop, the garage, and *I tripped and -- and so as we’re struggling* I’m trying to like get free so we’re just doing this side to side motion. And we kind of go out in the yard and we do almost like a horseshoe and turn back towards the house now, right, and at this point in time I’m able to like

work my arm back and shaking it back free, so his -- his -- he's losing his grip on my arm, so I'm getting my -- pulling to get my arm free and then all of a sudden while I'm doing that, you know, *he's just saying you better pull that trigger, you better pull that fucking trigger or you're a dead man, you're fucking dead, and he's like Max on me.*

And I was like really shaking back and forth and *outside of my periphery I see Max come out the back -- the back door* and I'm like -- I'm like dude, stop; dude, stop, stop, stop, and I saw Max come out the back door and so I brought my arm down a little bit like this and by this point I'd regained my footing so I was -- instead of being like backpedaling, you know, I'm able to stand upright, and so I bring my arm down a little bit, *I'm able to get a few paces away from him, and I shot. And when I shot like he just snarled at me and kept -- kept charging towards me, so I just shot him and I kept pulling the trigger until I saw him hit the ground.*

(R. 59, line 14 – 61, line 10).

Appellant testified that the attack and struggle lasted about eight seconds from when Decedent “charged” him to the time of the shooting. (R. 61, line 14-17). Appellant described the shooting as follows: *“It was just -- it was just a blur. All I saw was his face, that he was snarling at me, and him -- and when I say he was yelling, it was not like a yell like at the top or screaming, it was anger, like a death wish. You better pull that gun or I'm gonna fucking kill you.”* (R. 61, line 21-25) (emphasis added).

Appellant also explained why he shot Decedent more than once:

I shot once and like nothing happened. He just like snarled and just kept driving towards me, so I just kept pulling the trigger and the whole time I'm like -- I'm trying to get distance the entire time, so as I get my footing and I get my arm back up and I see Max come out and I start to shoot, I -- I just continue to get a couple more paces away from him each time, and so as he hits the ground I'm probably another pace or two behind, you know, backed up away from him.

(R. 62, line 9-17) (emphasis added). Appellant further testified, *“[M]ost importantly it would have gotten me to the ground and that's what I was afraid of. If [Decedent] got me to the ground it would be game over.”* (R. 62, line 25 – 63, line 2).

Appellant testified that, after the shooting, he removed the magazine from the gun, and

placed the weapon and cartridges on the ground, called 9-1-1, and held the Decedent's head while waiting for the police to arrive. (R. 63, lines 7 – 64, line 3).

Cross-Examination of Appellant

On cross-examination, Appellant acknowledged that he had not had any prior violent incidents with Decedent, and that Decedent had medical issues (e.g., a colostomy bag, a healing surgical wound on his abdomen, and wore an eye patch). (R. 67). Specifically, Appellant explained that the Decedent had been walking around naked in the house “holding gauze over his wound” while being in a lot of pain a few days before the shooting. (R. 97, lines 18-22).

Appellant admitted purchasing THC cartridges from Decedent for his anxiety. Appellant also acknowledged that he acted as a “middleman” for Decedent, facilitating the sale of marijuana vapes and edibles to a friend, Shannon Tilford. (R. 82 – 85). Appellant also agreed that he was aware that Decedent had a storage container of THC cartridges and bag of marijuana with a padlock in his room. (R. 100).

Appellant acknowledged that he did not mention that Decedent headbutted him during his initial statements to the police, and that the Decedent was unarmed with no other physical injuries. (R. 115 – 116). Appellant also conceded that he went back inside the home to retrieve his phone after the Decedent went inside and returned to the back porch after arming himself. Appellant stated that the only item he remembered getting knocked over during the struggle was a chair. (R. 142 – 143). Appellant testified that he never saw the bag of supposedly marijuana in Decedent's hand. (R. 144, line 24-25). Notably, Appellant reenacted the struggle and shooting. (R. 139).

Police Testimony

Officer William Norris

Officer Norris, a former officer with the Lexington Police Department, testified that he arrived on scene approximately five seconds behind Officer Brandon Hassler and observed

Appellant kneeling near the Decedent lying on the ground, and a dog running around in the back yard. (R. 147 – 148). Officer Norris also stated that Officer Hassler detained Appellant, and that Appellant complied without any issues. (R. 152 – 153). As recorded on his body-worn camera (BWC), Officer Norris testified that Appellant stated he “found out [Decedent] was dealing drugs” and was addressing that issue with him. (R. 158, line 24 – 159, line 5).

On cross-examination, Officer Norris admitted that Officer Hassler said that the dog had bitten him. (R. 160, lines 4-9). Officer Norris also acknowledged that Officer Hassler expressed concern for Appellant’s well-being and had EMS check him out. (R. 162).

Investigator Earl Alewine

Investigator Earl Alewine, a former detective with the Lexington Police Department, testified that he arrived on the scene shortly after the shooting occurred, and Appellant was already in police custody. (R. 163 – 164). Investigator Alewine also testified that he observed a firearm, a magazine, and a cartridge on the ground, and that a chair and a tiki torch were “knocked over in disarray”. (R. 167; R. 170). He further noted that Decedent had a bag of marijuana in his left hand, and that he did not find any weapons on or near Decedent’s body. (R. 169 – 170).

Investigator Alewine stated that he observed gunshot wounds on Decedent’s left side and back shoulder, but none on his “front torso”. (R. 169, lines 14-19). Investigator Alewine also testified that he took a photograph of the defendant and stated that Appellant “did not appear to have any injuries”. (R. 172, lines 11-17).

Investigator Alewine testified that Appellant agreed to a recorded interview a few days later, on June 30, 2021. In the interview, Appellant admitted he was “weary and tired” of Decedent living in his home. (R. 181, lines 4-16). Investigator Alewine also testified that Appellant stated that they had agreed on a rent of \$600 per month, with two months paid upfront. (R. 177, lines

20-23). Investigator Alewine noted that Appellant acknowledged that he smoked a THC cartridge on the day of the shooting. (R. 180, lines 1-2).

Investigator Alewine testified that Appellant admitted that he had never fought or argued with the Decedent. (R. 180, lines 3-8). Investigator Alewine maintained that Appellant said he had heard Decedent's dog was a "trained attack dog". (R. 187, lines 5-8). Investigator Alewine also testified that Appellant also admitted to having an "intimate moment" with Lizzy after Decedent's surgery. (R. 190, lines 14-17). Investigator Alewine further testified that Appellant did not mention being head-butted by Decedent, and that Appellant's description of the shooting was not consistent with the gunshot wounds observed on Decedent's left side of his body. (R. 184, lines 3-4; R. 189, lines 3-13).

On cross-examination, Investigator Alewine viewed a surveillance video recording of Decedent walking into a gas station wearing the same clothes on purportedly the same day as the shooting, and acknowledged that Decedent appeared to walk normal, did not appear in pain (was not clinching his side), or stumble while walking around the gas station. (R. 192 – 194).

Officer Paul Walker

Officer Paul Walker, a patrol sergeant with the Town of Lexington Police Department, was called in while off-duty to assist in the investigation by sitting with Appellant during the preparation and execution of search warrants. (R. 197). Officer Walker testified that Appellant made the following statements to him that were recorded on his body-worn camera: "I found out he was a drug dealer, I didn't want any part of that, and things went south really quickly", and "I was backing away, trying to get away, he kept coming at me". (R. 201, lines 3 – 202, line 10).

Court Ruling

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