**RECEIVED**

**Mar 02 2026**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY  
Honorable Debra R. McCaslin, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2024-001644

THE STATE, .....RESPONDENT

v.

JABIN ELLIOTTE TRAPP, .....APPELLANT.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

P. SANDERS LINKER  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-0918

SAMUEL R. HUBBARD, III  
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit

205 East Main Street, Suite 309

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

## ARGUMENT

**The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Appellant immunity from prosecution pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act because Appellant did not establish the elements required for immunity under the Act nor the requisite elements of self-defense by a preponderance of the evidence.**

Appellant claims the trial court abused its discretion in finding Appellant did not establish by a preponderance of the evidence the elements required for immunity under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(C) and the requisite elements of self-defense. Specifically, Appellant argues that the trial court erred in finding Appellant at fault for bringing on the difficulty, that he was not in imminent danger of losing his life, and that a reasonably prudent person would not have entertained the same belief. However, Appellant's claims to immunity were entirely dependent on a claimed series of events that thoroughly lacked credibility and were inconsistent with other evidence presented by the State. In essence then, Appellant asks this Court to disturb the credibility and factual findings of the trial court which are thoroughly supported by the record. Even assuming Appellant's account was credible, he was not without fault in bringing on the difficulty and lacked justification to use deadly force. Accordingly, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Appellant immunity under the PPPA.

This Court should affirm.

### **A. Relevant Facts**

Following the close of testimony at the hearing and arguments regarding the admissibility of Parrish's prior bad acts at trial, Appellant argued he was entitled to immunity under the PPPA because he proved all the requisite elements of self-defense by a preponderance of the evidence. (R. p. 219). Regarding the element of being without fault in bringing on the difficulty, Appellant argued that Parrish was the initial aggressor who worked himself up into a rage after being told he

should leave Appellant's home; Appellant, while frantically searching for his phone to call 911, armed himself because of his fear of Parrish. But before he could get his phone and call for help, he was attacked by Parrish while on the back porch. Since Appellant was merely trying to get away from the situation, Appellant argued he was not at fault in bringing on the difficulty.<sup>7</sup> (R. pp. 220–223).

Regarding the element of being in actual imminent danger, Appellant cited the “eight second” struggle for the gun as speaking for itself, noting:

. . . If Parrish gets that gun, it's probably a reverse and he's sitting here instead. So there is definitely an actual imminent danger here to [Appellant] because if Parrish gets the gun, it could kill [Appellant], and [Appellant] reacted the way a normal person would when their life is threatened by pulling the trigger and stopping Parrish from getting it. . . . He was actually in imminent danger of his own life being taken and he reacted reasonably under the circumstances.

(R. p. 223, ln. 10—R. p. 224, ln. 3).

Regarding the duty to retreat, Appellant argued:

One, we think we've proven that he didn't have the opportunity to escape the situation. He was doing a normal reasonable thing; get his phone so he could call the police. That was the alternative here. If he . . . had his phone right away, he could have called the police. So he goes in search of his phone, he gets into . . . his back bedroom. There's no way out of the house back there once he's there. If that was a bad decision, that was a bad decision, but once he's there, he's trapped. He can't get out of that situation. He's got to go back through the house. So he comes back through the house and when he's out on the back porch, there's no opportunity for him to get away from that point. Parrish is on him.

(R. p. 224, ll. 4–18). At this point, the court interjected by asking why Appellant did not just leave his cell phone behind and go out the front door, leading to the following exchange:

**The Court:** [W]hy is the phone so important that it would make you go back if you're scared to death of this person? Tell me that. Why would you have to go get your phone, armed with a gun, when he had the opportunity when he was in his

---

<sup>7</sup> Appellant also argued that he was entitled to arm himself on his own property and that alone would not put him at fault for bringing on the difficulty, citing *State v. Hendrix*, 270 S.C. 653, 244 S.E.2d 503 (1978).

bedroom or office that he had to walk through? I saw the map of the house. The living room . . . the front door is that way, the back door is that way. Why?

**Mr. Yonge:** Because . . . I do not think that would be a probable means of avoiding the danger that Parrish poses to him. He's gonna have to leave on foot; otherwise, he's got to go get keys . . . to a car. He's leaving on foot from his house down the road with Parrish, who's in a rage. But I'll grant you even if we can't prove . . . by a preponderance of the evidence that . . . we met this duty to retreat, . . . we still fall under Section 16-11-440(c). . . . And what that says is . . . if the defendant is not engaged in unlawful activity and he's in a place where he has a right to be, then he does not have the duty to retreat.

(R. p. 225, ln. 4—R. p. 226, ln. 2). Both the State and the court thereafter agreed that Section 440(C) would apply since both Appellant and Parrish resided at the home together at the time of the shooting. (R. p. 227).

In response, the State argued that Appellant was not entitled to immunity under Section 440(C) because Appellant was engaging in an unlawful eviction and self-admitted narcotics distribution scheme at the time of the shooting. Further, Appellant was at fault in bringing on the difficulty because he started the argument with Parrish, escalated it by trying to give back the \$1200, then went to arm himself, ultimately shooting an unarmed man. Although Parrish was agitated, the State pointed out how Appellant was also getting agitated during the argument.<sup>8</sup> (R. pp. 227–233). Regarding Appellant's alleged fear, the State noted:

He may not have a duty to retreat, Judge, but is that someone in fear for their life that they're going to walk through a house where they don't know where the man who's a threat to their life is with the gun behind them? He's not gonna have the gun ready for the unknown threat that could be lurking around any corner? He's gonna walk all the way through the house with the gun hidden behind him and go back to where they were arguing?

(R. p. 230, ln. 22—R. p. 231, ln. 5).

---

<sup>8</sup> The State cited *State v. Strickland*, 389 S.C. 210, 697 S.E.2d 681 (2010) for the proposition that evidence of the defendant telling the victim “to shut his F'ing mouth” was evidence of bringing on the difficulty creating a jury question. (R. p. 233).

The State also argued Appellant was not actually in imminent danger—citing the fact that Parrish was unarmed, had medical issues (including recent surgery), and was holding a bag of marijuana at the time of his death. Finally, the State highlighted many of the inconsistencies between Appellant’s various statements of what happened—arguing that these inconsistencies alone should be enough to deny immunity, especially where the physical evidence contradicted Appellant’s account. (R. pp. 233–238). For example, there were several inconsistencies between his interview testimony and his testimony at the hearing. First, Appellant stated he retrieved his pistol from his “nightstand,” not his dresser. (Court’s Ex. 28 at 14:30–15:00). Second, Appellant claimed Parrish had grabbed both of his arms at some point during the struggle—despite Parrish being found with a large bag of marijuana in one of his hands. (*Id.* at 16:00–16:30). Third, when recalling Parrish exclaiming “Max, on me,” Appellant stated that he had heard from other people that Max was a “trained attack dog” and that he thought Parrish was going to issue “some sort of attack command.” At the hearing, he testified that he thought Max was going to knock him to the ground. He did not recall Max being a “trained attack dog” or any “attack command.”<sup>9</sup> (*Id.* at 16:30–17:20; 19:30–21:00; *see also* R. p. 238).

The court took the matter under advisement and gave its ruling the following day as follows, first with respect to the elements of self-defense:

A defendant is entitled to immunity from prosecution under the [PPPA], and I must first consider whether the defendant has proven the elements of self-defense, and there’s four elements to self-defense.

The defendant must be without fault in bringing on the difficulty. I listened to the testimony of the officers, *but more importantly, the testimony of the defendant . . .* and I do believe that there was a back and forth heated argument *that was started by the defendant* asking [Parrish] to leave his home. It was rather confrontational from his testimony and he *walks away from that and goes and gets a gun*. So I do

---

<sup>9</sup> The immunity hearing testimony of one of the investigators at this second interview addresses many of these inconsistencies. (*See* R. pp. 182–189).

believe that he had a part in bringing on the difficulty and under *State v. Strickland* words alone could be sufficient to bring about the difficulty. . . .

Looking to the second element, the defendant must have been in actual imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury. Now I heard testimony . . . that he feared somehow the victim was going to signal Max, the dog, to attack him. And I watched the video. That dog followed the defendant all the way out to the truck wagging his tail. The dog lived there. He was friendly with the dog. He said he's never had a problem with the animal before. In fact, he was the one who mainly took care of him.

Then I also heard testimony about the victim himself, but I did not see anything . . . that they argued on the back porch. There was a chair overturned. There wasn't anything else disturbed on that porch if that's where the confrontation happened . . . and not to mention that *the victim was unarmed* and also an occupant of the home and had a right to be there and live there. . . . *[T]he only thing the victim had in his hand was a bag of marijuana.* . . .

This Court didn't find from the testimony that he was in any actual imminent danger of losing his life or believed that he was in any danger. . . . *[T]his victim, not to mention the health he was in, he had a colostomy bag . . . and then on top of that . . . the defendant also testified he knew [Parrish] for ten years and they've never had a cross word between each other, they got along fine. . . . I just think the defendant initiated an argument and it escalated and . . . the victim, he went inside, and then I think the defendant followed him. So if there is any fear of being in harm, why follow him? But . . . he goes inside, he follows him . . . and goes and gets a gun.*

Now would a person of reasonably prudent ordinary firmness and courage would have entertained the same belief. I don't believe so. I think this was just an argument over rent and money and the defendant wanted him out. That was the testimony. I think it escalated. He got a gun. Whatever confrontation there was wasn't certainly one that rose to the level that they were knocking things off of the porch . . .

I know that it is a preponderance of the evidence standard, but I don't believe that there's been enough sufficient evidence showing that the defendant was in actual danger or that he reasonably believed that he was in danger. I do believe . . . that he was at fault in bringing on the difficulty . . . or partially at fault . . .

(R. p. 243, ln. 8—R. p. 246, ln. 12) (emphasis added). Regarding the applicability of Section 440(C), the court noted that even if Appellant was not engaged in unlawful activity—despite his own admissions to engaging in drug activity—the force Appellant used was not necessary to

prevent death or great bodily injury since there was no imminent fear. Accordingly, the court denied Appellant’s request for immunity. (R. pp. 246–247).

## **B. Discussion**

In South Carolina, the Protection of Persons and Property Act (PPPA) provides immunity from prosecution to persons acting in defense of themselves or others if they are found to be justified in using deadly force in certain circumstances. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-450. The PPPA “codified the common law Castle Doctrine and extended its reach.” *State v. Glenn*, 429 S.C. 108, 117, 838 S.E.2d 491, 495 (2019). In order to validly claim immunity under the PPPA, our Supreme Court has concluded that a “defendant must show, by a preponderance of the evidence, that he has a valid claim of self-defense” and the circuit court must first consider, in a pretrial ruling, “all of the elements of self-defense—except the duty to retreat[.]” *State v. McCarty*, 437 S.C. 355, 368, 878 S.E.2d 902, 909 (2022) (citing *Curry*, 406 S.C. at 371, 752 S.E.2d at 266). The four elements of common law self-defense are as follows:

First, the defendant must be without fault in bringing on the difficulty. Second, the defendant must have actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury, or he actually was in such imminent danger. Third, if his defense is based upon his belief of imminent danger, a reasonably prudent man of ordinary firmness and courage would have entertained the same belief. If the defendant actually was in imminent danger, the circumstances were such as would warrant a man of ordinary prudence, firmness and courage to strike the fatal blow in order to save himself from serious bodily harm or losing his own life. Fourth, the defendant had no other probable means of avoiding the danger of losing his own life or sustaining serious bodily injury than to act as he did in this particular instance.

*Curry*, 406 S.C. at 371 n.4, 752 S.E.2d at 266 n.4 (quoting *State v. Davis*, 282 S.C. 45, 46, 317 S.E.2d 452, 453 (1984)). If the defendant fails to prove the elements of reasonable fear or the duty to retreat, the trial court must determine whether section 16-11-440(A) or (C) is applicable.

Section 16-11-440(A), “the main thrust of the Act, provides a presumption of reasonable fear of imminent peril of death or great bodily injury to a person who uses deadly force if he is attacked by or attempting to remove another from a dwelling, residence or occupied vehicle.” *Curry*, 406 S.C. at 370, 752 S.E.2d at 266. “However, the presumption of subsection (A) does not apply if the victim has an equal right to be in the dwelling or residence.” *Id.* Thus, subsection (A) does not apply in the scenario of two coresidents, meaning such a defendant claiming immunity is “defaulted” into subsection (C). *See Jones*, 416 S.C. at 291–98, 786 S.E.2d at 136–40. Since Appellant and Parrish lived together in the same house at the time of the shooting, Appellant must rely on subsection (C)—provided as follows:

A person who is not engaged in an unlawful activity and who is attacked in another place where he has a right to be, including, but not limited to, his place of business, *has no duty to retreat* and has the right to stand his ground and meet force with force, including deadly force, *if he reasonably believes it is necessary to prevent death or great bodily injury to himself or another person or to prevent the commission of a violent crime as defined in Section 16-1-60.*

S.C. Code Ann, § 16-11-440(C) (emphasis added). Thus, where this subsection is applicable, it replaces the duty to retreat element of self-defense. *Curry*, 406 S.C. at 371 n.4, 752 S.E.2d at 266 n.4.

In this case, the trial court correctly found that Appellant failed to prove the requisite elements of self-defense and correctly denied Appellant immunity under subsection (C). Even taking Appellant’s account at face value, he failed to show he was without fault in bringing on the difficulty since he started the argument with Parrish and further escalated it, eventually arming himself and shooting Parrish. Appellant essentially did not dispute that he started the argument with Parrish—though he downplayed his own agitation and escalation of the situation. As the State noted:

Judge, I think this case dies about two minutes [sic] into Officer Hassler's body camera where he says we got heated. We got in a heated argument. Judge, if nothing else, he . . . voluntarily enters into a heated argument with someone before anybody gets physical, before anybody gets a gun, that's bringing on the difficulty.

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